

Role of Argwadha Nitya Virechana in Madhumeha (Diabetes Mellitus-II) - A Case Study.

Abstract-

Diabetes Mellitus is now considered a pandemic. Especially in India, the number of patients increased at 14% prediabetic, becoming the capital of Diabetes. It is a clinical syndrome which characterize by an increased level of blood sugar. In Ayurveda, the madhumeha is explained as a type of prameha. The kind of madhumeha is of two. One is dhatukshaya, and other is avaranjanya. The avaranjanya type of Madhumeha is allowed to be treated with the shodhana process. In which vamana and virechana are effective. **Objective-** The objective of this study was to study the efficacy of Nitya Virechana in the management of madhumeha. **Material and Method-** A single case study a 59 yrs old male patient who was already diagnosed with madhumeha before 21 days. Symptoms such as pippasa, shramdaurbalya, Bahumutrata was present; after investigation, he was advised for Nitya Virechana. **Result-** Symptomatic assessment of the patient was carried out after treatment i.e. after Nitya Virechana and outcome was satisfactory, and the quality of life of patient was significantly improved. **Conclusion-** Nitya Virechana brought about good relief in symptoms in patients with Madhumeha and controlling the blood sugar level.

Key words- Madhumeha, Aragwadha Kwatha, Nitya virechana, Diabetes Mellitus.

Introduction-

Diabetes is the current global problem that affects the economic, physical and mental health of society. The prevalence of Diabetes in 2014 was 382 million, and it will be 592 million in 2035 by the International Diabetes Federation [1]. Diabetes Mellitus (DM II) is a metabolic disease in which the endocrine system has to genetic susceptibility and the insulin-regulating tissue. It is caused due to environmental and dietetic factors resulting in insulin resistance and impaired Beta-cell functions [2]. Especially in India, the relationship between calorie intake and obesity increases rapidly due to high fat diet reduction in energy expenditure and urbanization. Due to excess stress and the lack of exercise is the main reason of obesity and Diabetes [3]. Changes in fat and protein metabolism are involved in Diabetes mellitus. Consequent changes in fat and protein metabolism lead to glucose metabolism impairment. Insulin is responsible for not only glucose metabolism but also fat metabolism. Insulin impairment leads to changes in fat, and glucose metabolism leads to Diabetes. Constant high glucose level changes gradually deteriorate insulin secretion [4].

In Ayurveda the Madhumeha is the subtype of vatic Prameha. It has two types one is avaranjanya and other is Dhatukshayajanya. According to Sushruta the vyan Vayu and apnavayu are play the significant role in the prameha pathogenesis. The vyana vayu is essential to the movement of every particle of the body and apana vayu for the excretion

Comment [WU1]: is characterized

Comment [WU2]: kinds

Comment [WU3]: Case Report-

Comment [WU4]: study of a

Comment [WU5]: were

Comment [WU6]: delete to

Comment [WU7]: for

when the watery content that is *kleda* increased it goes into the bladder and increased the urine frequency and the quantity [5]. The treatment of *Madhumeha* is *sanshodhana* in which *Vamana* and *Virechana* explained in the *Samhita*. The *doshas* excess in the *madhumeha*, so the *Shodhan* is expressed in the patient of *sthulpramehi* means the obese patient and *santarpan* in the lean patient [6]. Many *virechaka* drugs are explained in the *samhitas* like the *Snuhi*. This is the solid purgative. *Argwdaha* is choosing here for *nitya virechana*, which is explained in the *Prameha*. For this purpose patient daily gets the *virechak kwatha*, which the patients get 2-3vegas is allowed. In *Chakrdatta*, the *Chaturangulakwatha* is described in the treatment of *prameha* [7].

Comment [WU8]: CORRECT SPELLING

Comment [WU9]: chosen

Case Presentation

Case- patient of age 59 yr old having, complain of *prabhutmutrata* (excess urination), *naktmutrata* (night time urination), *Vibandha* (constipation), *atinidra* (sleepiness), *swedadhikya* (excess sweating), *Trishna* (thirst), *Daurbalya* (weakness) from 1yr. With this complaint, patient **come** to the *panchkarma* OPD.

Medication history-patient on the **ant** hypertension medicine- Tab. Salmo 13.5 mg from 2yr, Past history- Lichen planus patient took steroids before 5 yr.

Family history- father, had a history of Diabetes. On this complaint the general examination did.

Table-1 General examination-

Sr.no.	Examination	Findings
1.	Pulse	78/min
2.	Blood pressure	130/90mmhg
3.	Respiratory rate	18/min
4.	Temperature	97 ⁰ f.
5.	CVS	S ₁ S ₂ . normal
6.	R/S	Air entry normal both lungs
7.	CNS	Conscious, oriented
8.	P/A	Soft, no tenderness.
9.	Bladder	Normal urination
10.	Bowel	Constipated some time

Table-2 Ashtavidhparikshan-

<i>Nadim</i>	<i>Atakapa</i>
<i>Java</i>	<i>Sama(coated)</i>
<i>Mala</i>	<i>Vibandh hard stool Itime/day</i>
<i>Mutra</i>	Excess at night 2-3 times
<i>Sudha</i>	Normal
<i>Indra</i>	Excess
<i>Drunk</i>	Normal
<i>Akratic</i>	<i>Madhya</i>
<i>Spars</i>	<i>Ashutosh</i>

Comment [WU10]: Write proper 8 points of Ashtavidha pariksha

Comment [WU11]: Correct the spelling

Comment [WU12]: Not in ashtavidha pariksha

Prakriti	Vat pitta
----------	-----------

Table-3 Dashvidhpariksha-

Dushya	Meda, mutra, kleda, ras,
Desha	Jangle
Bala	Medium
Kala	Autumn
Agni	Medium
Prakriti	Vat-pitta
Vaya	Jara
Sattva	Medium
Satyma	Yogurt, pickle, milk, day sleep 1.30 hr daily.
Ahaar	Sweet, nonveg in week 2times specially fish,

Comment [WU13]: Write proper 10 points of dashavidha pariksha

Comment [WU14]: Not in dashvidha pariksha

Strotaspariksha-

Purishvaha-constipation, 1-time hard stool

Raktvaha- Hypertension. S1, S2 normal.

Medovaha- excess sweating

Mutravaha- excess urination, night urination

Hetu- In this patient, excess eating of sweet, jaggery, curd, nonveg especially fish and milk and day sleeping are found.

Samprapti- Excess intake of *Kapha*, *pittakar* diet and routine raised the *Mansa* and *meda* levels in the body. This increased level of *Kapha* and *meda* obstructed the channels *margavrodha*. *Avrutavayugati* disturbed the *oja*, and *vata* increased. *Vayusrukshaguna* *Madhur rasa* of *Ojas* changed into the *kashaya rasa*. This *ojas* mixes with the *mutravahasrotas*, and *prakupitvayu* expel the *Oja* like *Madhu*. *Avrittavata* then entered the *mutravahasrotas* and down towards the bladder, and frequently, honey-like urine seen, and *Madhumeha* occurred [8].

Comment [WU15]: expels

Comment [WU16]: Urine was seen

By above finding patient advised for blood sugar and other investigation. The levels of blood sugar reported rose. It is confirmed according to ICD criteria as a diabetes mellitus-II. According to *Ayurveda* it established as the *Madhumeha*.

Comment [WU17]: investigations

Comment [WU18]: it was established

On the above observation, advised for random blood sugar, it was 179. A detailed investigation suggested the patient. And confirmed diagnosis as *Madhumeha*. And the patient is fit for them. The consent was taken from the patient, and he agreed to Ayurvedic treatment. Then he advised *Nitya Virechana* (Daily purgation) with *Argwadha kwatha*. 6gm of fine powder 960ml water boiled 1/8 part and become 120 ml *kwatha* prepared as per *Sharadha Samhita* kantha description. This *kwatha* advised for 21 days. It's action like the, but the *Vegas* is less as compared to classic. The observation of *Vegas* is routine till day five afterword's patient get the 2 or 3 *Vegas* after taking the *virechak kwatha*. *Samyakshuddhi lakshans* found in 6 the day of *nitya virechana* specially *laingiki shuddhi* found. *Samyaklakshnas* not found in *vaigiki and maniki*. Due to the *Nitya virechana* the quantity of

Comment [WU19]: Mention unit mg/dl

Comment [WU20]: Of Aragvadha

Comment [WU21]: Reconstruct the sentence. Mention if daily given freshly prepared.

Comment [WU22]: Correct spelling Sharangadhara

Comment [WU23]: Mention dose, time and frequency with anupana.

the drug is less than the classical dose as per dose the *Vega* is less, but the *laingikishuddhilikeshirolaghav*, *indriyashuddhi*, *udarlaghav* observed.

Table-4 Assessment-

Days	Colour of stool	<i>Vega/day</i>	<i>Samyak/asamyak</i>	<i>Daurbalya</i>
First 5 days	Normal	1	<i>Samyak</i>	No
16 days	Stool colour is yellowish, blackish	1-3	<i>Samyak</i>	Very less.

The observation before and after treatment is as follows. The *Argwadhakwatha* shows the effective result in the investigation and on the subjective criteria.

Table-5 Investigation-

Objective parameter	Before treatment	After treatment
Hb	12.7g/dl	11.6gm/dl
Leucocyte count	7200/chum	6900/chum
RBC count	5.72ml/cm	5.37ml/cm
ESR	4mm/hr	13mm/hr
BSL-F	139mg/dl	75mg/dl
BSL-PP	164.5mg/dl	100mg/dl
HbA1c	6.40	5.82
Triglyceride	360mg/dl	129.6mg/dl
HDL	42.12mg/dl	42mg/dl
LDL	81.88mg/dl	85mg/dl
VLDL	72mg/dl	25mg/dl
Total Cholesterol	196mg/dl	153mg/dl
LDL/HDL	1.94	2
Total Chol/HDL	4.65	3.6
Urine turbidity	Clear	Clear

Table-6 Subjective parameter-

Sr no.	Criteria	Before treatment	After treatment
1	<i>Prabhuta mutrata</i>	1	0
2	<i>Naktmutrata</i>	1	0
3	<i>Pipasa</i>	1	1
4	<i>Hastapadtaldaha</i>	0	0
5	<i>Vibandha</i>	1	0
6	<i>Shramsswasa</i>	1	0

7	<i>Pipalिकासancharti</i>	0	0
8	<i>Atinidra</i>	2	1
9	<i>Mukhmadurya</i>	1	0
10	<i>Daurbalya</i>	1	0
11	<i>Kshudhadhikya</i>	1	0
12	<i>Swedadhikya</i>	1	0

Discussion-

On the above observation the a significant difference between before and after treatment. The blood sugar parameter is more important; it found before treatment, the fasting was 139 mg/dl. and postprandial become 164mg/dl. After *Argwadhakwatha Nitya virechana* it becomes 75 mg/dl. And postprandial become 100 mg/dl. Significant change is considered to be in the HbA1c is before treatment, it was 6.40, and after treatment, it becomes 5.84. on the lipid profile, the *Argwadhakwatha Nitya virechana* shows significant effect especially on triglycerides before 360mg/dl after 129mg/dl. VLDL before 72 mg/dl after it is 25 mg/dl and on total cholesterol 196mg/dl after 153 mg/dl. The subjective parameter gives the satisfied result on Prabhutnutrata, Naktmutrata, Daurbalya, Mukhmadhurya, Atinidraswedadhikya *Shramshwasa, Vibandha*. But no effect on *pipasa*. On this result, the *Argwadhakwatha* has the *sansran* property in which it removes the sticky *doshas* on the walls of the gut. By removing the lead and mala from the body becomes clean, and symptoms get relieved. The action of *Argwadha kwatha* is mild in action; it does not exhaust the body. The patient get 1-3 times lose bowel from 6days after taking *kwatha*, and after bowel, the patient advised the bland food. During this procedure, patient get complete evacuation of bowel and freshness and blood pressure, and other examinations are normal. *Samayaksiddhi Lakshana* observed. On the other side, Diabetes is caused due to the excess use of the dairy product and day sleep which already explains in the *samhita* which is observed in the patient[9]. *Kleda* is the symptom found in *Madhumeha*, in which mala get accumulated in the *koshta* and night urination and frequency of urine occurred due to the *doshyas* in bladder [10]. *Medvahasrotas* is already disturbed, so the *durabalya*, *pipasa*, *shrumshaws* and *kshudhadhikya*, *swedadhikya* observed [11]. *Argwadha kwatha nitya virechana* removes the *doshas* and lowered the blood sugar level and symptoms [12],

Comment [WU24]: there is

Comment [WU25]: it was found

Comment [WU26]: becomes

Comment [WU27]: body, it becomes

Comment [WU28]: loose

Comment [WU29]: Mention samyaka shuddhi lakshana

Comment [WU30]: which is already

Probable mode of action of *Nitya Virechana* -

Nitya virechana is a concept and type of *Virechana*. It is mentioned for the treatment where bahudoshavastha condition [13, 14, 15] and madhumeha is a bahudosha disease. for the patient who has the vitiated *doshas* and present in the *koshthas*. In *Madhumeha* the *doshas* are vitiated and present in *koshthas*. *Nityavirechana* can be the effective way to lowered the *doshas* quantity and breaking of pathophysiology. It is the treatment in which the body is cleaned through evacuating the watery content and *pitta*, *mala*, *kappa*, *vata*. In *Madhumeha* already the liquid content (*kleda*) is excess [16]. Administering *Argwadha kwatha* which is chosen for *nityavirechana* is responsible for removing *doshas* sedimented in *koshtha*. *Madhumeha* has the main symptom of *vibandha*; due to this, the *mala* accumulate in the *koshtha*, and 21 days *nitya virechana* removes the *doshas* in *madhumeha*. Abnormal *meda dhatu* is the founder of *Madhumeha*. Excessive *kleda* in *Madhumeha* observed and in *karma* removes the *kleda* means watery content from the body. It also acts on the vitiated *Meda dhatu* and as per *Vagbhata* draw the vitiated *doshas* by nearest route [17]. The patient found relief in the symptoms.

Comment [WU31]: is present

Comment [WU32]: lower

Comment [WU33]: break down

Comment [WU34]: accumulates

Probable mode of action of *Argwadha*-

Argwadha is the laxative drug that causes the *doshas* to stick on the walls of *koshtha* to get washed out. It has the mild in action it not exhausted to the patient, and the property of *Argwadha* is *adhobhaghar shodhan* as per Samhita. In the *Madhumeha*, the *doshas* accumulated in the *koshtha* in the lower region, so it evacuated the *doshas*. As per modern the *Argwadha* is Antilipidic as well as the antidiabetic. In the patient of the above case, the patient shows the reduced blood sugar level and HbA1c and the lipid profile. By the *virechaka* property of *Argwadha*, the *doshas* washed out slowly, so the subjective criteria get the effective result. Few of the related studies were reviewed [18-20]. Khatib et.al. reflected on M-Health intervention for type II diabetes mellitus patients in Indian rural areas[21]. Belsare et.al. reported a study on prevalence of non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus in different types of prakruti in Wardha city[22]. Gaidhane et.al. reviewed on perceptions of primary care doctors towards type 2 diabetes mellitus[23]. Shrivastava et.al. reported about assessment of Mean Platelet Volume (MPV) in subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus[24].

Comment [WU35]: it is not

Comment [WU36]: wash

Conclusion-

Madhumeha is occurred due to the *Dhatukshay* or *Margavrodha*. On the above patient, *Margavrodha* observed. Due to the *kleda* and *Vibandha* mala get accumulated in the channel and *Madhumeha* symptoms seen. In *Madhumeha*, *doshas* collected in the lower part of the body and is the nearest route to remove this *kleda* and obstructed stick *doshas* through the bowel. *Argwadhakwatha Nitya virechana* is a promising treatment seen in the Diabetes. The patients elevated blood sugar level gets down to normal, and the hyperlipidemia becomes normal. The main effect on the HbA1c down towards the normal. The subjective criteria of *Madhumeha* get relieved by this procedure. Obstruction of the channel due to *doshas* get washed out through bowel, and the symptoms are relieved. At the same patient, get relief in subjective and investigative criteria. Further studies on the same conducted on more patients are necessary for more illumination on the *Madhumeha*.

Comment [WU37]: occurs

Comment [WU38]: symptoms are seen

Comment [WU39]: relieved

Comment [WU40]: reconstruct sentence

References:

1. Diabetes Mellitus: An Ayurvedic View Journal of Scientific and Innovative Research 2015; 4(4): 193-196
2. Anthony s. fauci Et.Al. Harrison's principle of international medicine, Mc graw-hill 17th ed, 2008 pg no. 2275.
3. Seema Gulati 1,2 and Anoop Misra 1,2,3,4,* nutrients ISSN 2072-6643 Nutrients 2014, 6, 5955-5974; doi:10.3390/nu6125955.
4. BatoKorac^{ab} AndjelikaKalezic^a VanjaPekovic-Vaughan^c et al Redox changes in obesity, metabolic syndrome, and diabetes *Redox Biology* 4 February 2021
5. Agnivesha Charak Samhita by Pt. Kashinath Pandey & Gorakhnath Chaturvedi, Sharira sthan, Chapter 8, verse 21, Varanasi: Chaukhambha Bharti Academy, 2009, p. 92.
6. Agnivesha Charak Samhita by Brahmanand tripathi, charak samhita-vol 2, chikitsasthan chapter 6 verse 15, chaukhamba prakashan 2006, page 286.
7. Agnivesha Charak Samhita by Brahmanand tripathi, charaksamhita-vol 2, kalpsasthan chapter 8 verse 4, chaukhambaparakashan 2006, page 1118.
8. Sushruta Samhita of Maharshi Sushruta by Shastri Kaviraj Ambika Datta, Nidana Sthan, S.Ni. 6/4, Chaukhambha Sanskrit Sansthan (2010). P. 326[7]

9. China Hao Wang¹, Lingli Chen², Dun Shen², Y Wang et al. Association of daytime napping in relation to risk of Diabetes: evidence from a prospective study in Zhejiang, *Nutrition & Metabolism* volume 18 issue 1 ISSN- 1743-7075 page no.
10. Agnivesha Charak Samhita by Ravidatta Tripathi, charak samhita vol-1, sutrasthan chapter 17 verse-78-81, chaukhambaparakashan 2005, p.267.
11. Agnivesha Charak Samhita by Ravidatta Tripathi, charak samhita vol-2, chapter 6 verse-14, chaukhambaparakashan 2005, p 285.
12. Deshpande D, Shilpa B, Parwe S, Patil M, Belsare A. Evaluation of effect of Argwadha kwatha Nitya virechana and Nishakathkadi kwatha in Madhumeha (Diabetes mellitus II). *European Journal of Molecular & Clinical Medicine*. 2020 Dec 22;7(7):1846-55.
13. Prakashrao PJ, Parwe S. A Comparative Clinical Study On The Effect Of Anupana Bheda Trivrutta Churna Nitya Virechana In Yakruta Vikara (Liver Disorders) With Abnormal Liver Function Test. *International Journal of Modern Agriculture*. 2020 Sep 30;9(3):90-5.
14. Bhende S, Parwe S. Role of Nitya Virechana and Shaman Chikitsa in the management of Ekakushta with special respect to plaque psoriasis: A case study. *Journal of Indian System of Medicine*. 2020 Jan 1;8(1):57.
15. Shweta Dadarao Parwe, Milind Abhimanyu Nisargandha. Clinical evaluation of Nitya Virechana in Hepato cellular Jaundice – A Case Study. *ijrps* [Internet]. 2020 Sep.30 [cited 2020 Oct.13];11(4):5902-6. Available from: <https://pharmascope.org/ijrps/article/view/3247>
16. Jyoti Kumari, Charmi S. Mehta, V.D Shukla¹, Alankruta R. Dave, Tushar M. Shingala. A comparative clinical study of Nyagrodhadi Ghanavati and Virechana Karma in the management of Madhumeh AYU, Jul-Sep 2010, Vol 31, Issue 3.
17. Vagbhata. *Astanga Hridaya, Sutra Sthana, Doshopkramaniya Adhyaya*, 13/29, 9th ed. Varanasi: Chaukhambha Sanskrit Sansthan; 2008. p. 133
18. Ashfaq, Aaliya Rukhsar Mohammad, Najnin Khanam, Farhan Khan, Rutuj Narendra Waghmare, and Shobha Kanhaiyalal Joshi. "Assessment of Self-Care Practices among Type 2 Diabetes Patients at a Tertiary Care Hospital - A Cross-Sectional Study." *JOURNAL OF EVOLUTION OF MEDICAL AND DENTAL SCIENCES-JEMDS* 9, no. 36 (September 7, 2020): 2630–35. <https://doi.org/10.14260/jemds/2020/572>.
19. Ashtankar, Poonam, V, and Punam Sawarkar. "Role of Panchatikta Panchaprasutik Niruha Vasti in Prediabetes A Case Report." *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF AYURVEDIC MEDICINE* 11, no. 3 (September 2020): 588–93.
20. Thorat, Vaibhav, Imranali M. Khan, and Sakshi Gaikwad. "Platelet Rich Fibrin Matrix the Cost Effective Way to Treat Trophic Ulcer in Diabetes: A Pilot Study." *MEDICAL SCIENCE* 24, no. 104 (August 2020): 2752–59.
21. Khatib, N., S. Gaidhane, A. Gaidhane, And Zahiruddin Quazi Syed. "M-Health Intervention For Type II Diabetes Mellitus Patients In Indian Rural Areas." *Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics* 16, no. 1 (February 1, 2014): A95–96.
22. Belsare, Anuja, Gaurav Sawarkar, and Pratiksha Mahure. "an observational study protocol for the prevalence of non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus in different types of prakruti in wardha city." *international journal of modern agriculture* 9, no. 3 (2020): 96–99.
23. Dr. Niran J. (2018). Anorexia Nervosa Medication Analytical Implications. *International Journal of Intensive Care*, 14(01), 08–11.

24. Dr. Ali Say. (2018). Pressure Injuries: An Exploration of How Evidence-Based Practice Has the Potential to Improve Care Delivery. *International Journal of Intensive Care*, 14(01), 12–14.
25. Gaidhane, Shilpa, Nazli Khatib, Zahiruddin Quazi Syed, Abhay Gaidhane, Sailesh Kukade, and Sanjay Zodpey. “Perceptions of Primary Care Doctors towards Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Challenges for Care at Primary Care Level in India.” *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF DIABETES IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES* 35, no. 1 (March 2015): 14–18. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s13410-014-0199-6>.
26. Shrivastava, Priyal, Mahalaqua Nazli Khatib, Shilpa Gaidhane, Dipti Shrivastava, Abhay M. Gaidhane, and Zahiruddin Quazi Syed. “Assessment of Mean Platelet Volume (MPV) in Subjects with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) in a Rural Backdrop of Central India.” *MEDICAL SCIENCE* 24, no. 101 (February 2020): 12–21.

UNDER PEER REVIEW